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For my grandchildren, Honor, Hope, and Ryder, so they have some idea of what “Grampy” was doing before they came along.






My First Prime Minister

Growing up in Ottawa in the 1950s, our family lived a Father Knows Best lifestyle. Father Knows Best was a TV show starring Robert Young and Jane Wyatt. It was the first family situation comedy on television, and it was a huge hit, portraying a family unit that navigated the postwar years by being close, always together. They ate breakfast together; father and the kids were always home for a mom-made lunch; and they gathered around the dining room table for dinner. It was all so perfect. That was us to a T. Or at least that’s the way I like to remember it.

One day in the fall of 1958, after walking home along Fifth Avenue in Ottawa from my grade six class at Mutchmor Public School, I opened the door to our house to find my mother inside deep in conversation with two men in suits.

In the polite style of the ’50s, I remained quiet until I was properly introduced.

“Peter,” my mother said. “These men are producers working for the National Film Board, and they are planning a film on the Parliament Buildings.” I listened while my mother carried on. “They’ve chosen Wendy to be in one of the lead roles in a story about two children visiting Parliament and touring the buildings. They still have to find a boy for the other role.”

Wendy was my teenage sister. She was in high school at Glebe Collegiate Institute, and she was very popular. She was a cheerleader, a member of the Hi-Y, and had lots of As on her report card. You know the drill—the smarter, older sister. I loved her and she was my great protector as we grew up and still is to this day.

“I could play the boy. Why not me?” I said boldly, stepping somewhat out of line with the Father Knows Best rules that seemed to govern things in our home.

“Oh, Peter,” said my mother.

“Oh, yes,” said the producers.

And that basically was it. They signed us up to star in Michael and Mary Visit the Parliament Buildings—two typically Canadian kids touring the heart of Canadian democracy. There was an irony of course in that, seeing as Wendy and I had been born in Britain and immigrated to Canada just a few years earlier from what was then Malaya. We still had our English accents and our English passports, and I still wore British-boy-style shorts and pants. But that didn’t seem to bother anyone at the NFB. The film was destined to be in every school in the country, and even now, I imagine that it’s gathering dust on the bottom shelf of some basement storage room in a few schools.

The shoot was to take a week, which meant a week off school, which in turn meant both my parents and the schools had to sign off. They did.

The film was pretty simple in format. It wasn’t moving pictures, but was instead still shots, slides. But at least it was in colour.

We set up and took location shots all over Parliament Hill. In the House of Commons, in the Senate, in the Hall of Honour, in the room dedicated to Canada’s war dead, in the Peace Tower standing on the platform above one of the huge bells that toll out each hour across Ottawa. And the excitement built each day as we all knew the moment would come at the end of the week when we would meet and have a shoot with the prime minister, John Diefenbaker.

Diefenbaker had just won a huge majority in the 1958 general election earlier that year. At the time, it was the largest majority in Canadian history. The Saskatchewan lawyer-turned-politician was popular across the land, and his squeaker minority win in 1957 had upset more than twenty years of Liberal power in Ottawa. In the fall of 1958, there were great hopes that the Diefenbaker era would begin an exciting new period in Canada. The postelection honeymoon was still on as we moved our camera gear into the prime minister’s office on the last day of our shoot.

These days, the PMO has space across Parliament Hill, its own building along Wellington Street overlooking the Hill, plus a spectacular wood-paneled office on the third floor of the Centre Block just outside the House of Commons. But back in 1958, John Diefenbaker kept his main office in a relatively small room in the East Block, and that’s where we met. He was excited about the film and the scene it would include of “Michael and Mary” meeting the prime minister. We took lots of pictures and had lots of meaningful, at least for Wendy and me, small talk. Then someone said, “That’s a wrap.”

And with that, my first prime ministerial encounter had taken place. There would be many more with every prime minister from Diefenbaker to Justin Trudeau. In all, I have spent time with and interviewed eleven PMs, which is a pretty good figure considering there have only been twenty-three in total since Confederation in 1867. Okay, enough of that. I’m really starting to feel old now.

Back to John Diefenbaker.

When I was a reporter at CBC Winnipeg in the 1970s, there was a Friday afternoon ritual that would take place at the Winnipeg International Airport. Diefenbaker, by then an ordinary MP, or at least as ordinary as Dief could be, would always stop in Winnipeg to change planes on his way to his home riding in Prince Albert, Saskatchewan. And part of the stopover would include a news conference. He always had something to say, even if it rarely had anything to do with the questions reporters would ask him. Sitting there with his old cabinet colleague, Brandon’s Walter Dinsdale, nodding beside him, “the Chief,” as everyone called him, would ramble on about whatever misstep he felt Pierre Trudeau was making as prime minister. He wasn’t that flattering about his own party leader either, his replacement, Robert Standfield. In other words, every Friday was all pure Diefenbaker. It rarely made national headlines, but there was always a full house of reporters anxious to get some clips for the weekend local news run.

One of those Fridays in 1974, I decided to finally bring with me a copy of the best picture taken of the then prime minister, my sister, and me in 1958. I waited until the news conference was over and went up to see the man.

“Mr. Diefenbaker, I’m sure you don’t remember this photo shoot with the National Film Board, but it means a lot to me and to my sister, and I was wondering if you could sign it for me?”

He took the picture in his hands and studied it for a moment, showing it to Dinsdale beside him.

Part of the Diefenbaker myth was he never forgot anything or anyone. That he could walk into a rally and remember the names of people who were there to shake his hand. It was a great reputation to have, but most people thought it was perhaps a bit overblown. Nobody’s memory could be that good. Or could it?

“I remember that day,” the former prime minister said confidently. “Your mother was there, and she talked about how you’d come over from Britain as a family just a few years before.”

I was dumbfounded. Speechless. I just stood there.

He gave up waiting for me to say something, pulled out a pen, and signed the photo: “To Peter and Wendy, with my best wishes now and always—17 years after. JG Diefenbaker.”

POSTSCRIPT

John Diefenbaker never won another majority government after his overwhelming 1958 victory. He was a controversial figure throughout his political career, often fighting more with his own party than with the opposing Liberals. But he did accomplish changes that have lasted through history, perhaps the most important of which was the Canadian Bill of Rights. He also pushed into law in 1960 the ability for Indigenous Peoples in Canada to have the right to vote, which stunningly they had never had. And he included the first woman in a federal cabinet, Ellen Fairclough, as minister of citizenship and immigration. I’m proud to have my citizenship papers, officially earned in 1959, signed by Minister Fairclough.

Walter Dinsdale kept winning elections, eleven in all, and died in office in 1982.

John Diefenbaker died in 1979. He was eighty-three.
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Wendy and I with PM John Diefenbaker in Ottawa in 1958.








–I– A Penny on the Floor


MY SISTER IS THE CHRONICLER of our family history. And that’s a good thing, because while many Canadians have known me as a chronicler of our nation’s history—and the world’s too for that matter—I’d be lost on the little details about my early life if it wasn’t for Wendy.

As much as she hates to admit it, Wendy is a couple of years older than me—I promised not to be exact—so she remembers when I came home from the hospital. And the fact that the next thing my father brought to our home in Bromley, Kent—yes, England—was a television set. Now, that’s amazing because we were not well-off, and in 1948, having a television, still in its infancy as a medium, was an extravagance. But before you make the link between the television and what I ended up doing for most of my career, forget it. We were gone from that home in Kent before I was old enough to remember anything, and we left the television behind when we abandoned England for the colonies. Nope, not Canada, but Malaya on the other side of the world. At that time, my father was a bureaucrat working for the British Foreign Service and he was sent to Kuala Lumpur to help with the reorganization of the Malayan civil service, which led to the country’s independence and eventual rebirth as Malaysia.

I was two years old when we left the port of Southampton on the P&O passenger ship RMS Canton. That voyage contains some of my first memories, including a great little story on which I have spent much time trying to determine its significance, if any, for the rest of my life.

This was a long trip. Twenty-one days in all. South along the coasts of France, Spain, and Portugal; through the Straits of Gibraltar and the Mediterranean; along the Suez Canal and the Red Sea. By the time we got to the Gulf of Aden, the ship’s crew had organized a games day for the kids, and one of the games was a foot race for the youngest of us. I was dressed in my best British whites—shorts and shirt. And I had my lucky penny with me, one of those big, brown English pennies of the day. I don’t remember exactly where I got it, but I assume it must have been from either my mother or my father. I do remember it was in the shirt pocket next to my heart.

There were about half a dozen kids roughly my age ready for the race, and the ship’s steward lined us up and called out, “On your marks. Get set.”

No one was really “set”—we were two- and three-year-olds after all; just keeping us in some form of a starting line was enough of a challenge.

“Go!”

And off I went. Now, I’ve never been a runner, but I guess those other kids really weren’t either. Because, to my shock, I was in the lead. Waddling along at my full speed, which was more than theirs. Until the waddle caused a problem.

That beautiful, big, brown British penny popped out of my pocket.

I heard it hit the wooden deck. I looked down and saw it slowly rolling toward the edge of the boat and the ocean below. I couldn’t let that happen. I stopped, reached down on my hands and knees, and rescued my fortune.

Proud of myself, I looked up, just in time to see everyone else cross the finish line.
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With Wendy on board the RMS Canton en route to Malaya in 1951.



So, what do we make of that little anecdote? Was it a harbinger of things to come? Would I pick money over progress in the future? Or would I focus on the finish line and leave the cash on the ground? When you’re two years old, not all events will indicate what decisions you’ll make in the years ahead. Genes, though, just may do that, and I had some pretty good genes.

My father, Stanley, was born in a Canadian military hospital in Folkestone, a small port town alongside the English Channel, in 1918. His father, my grandfather, was with the Princess Pats—the Princess Patricia’s Canadian Light Infantry—and had been wounded on Vimy Ridge in that famous battle of April 1917, a place I would broadcast from many times during my career. Harry Mansbridge was evacuated to the Canadian camp at Folkestone to recover from his wounds, where, in a story quite familiar to many other wounded and hospitalized soldiers, he fell in love with his nurse, a British girl by the name of Alice. One thing led to another, and my father was born.

After the war, the young family came to Canada, but my grandmother was homesick for Britain, and they moved back in the mid-1920s. Growing up, my father’s dream was to become a lawyer, but a number of things got in the way. Like money. It was tight, and while he tried to supplement what my grandparents could put together by working at a bakery, he spent too much time eating “jambusters” and not enough saving, as he used to tell me. For the rest of his life after he left the bakery, he could not even look at another jambuster, let alone eat one. But mainly what stopped him from law school was the war.

By 1938, Stanley had joined the Royal Air Force, convinced that war was coming and wanting, like his father had done before him, to do his part. Harry had made his son promise not to join the army, where he himself had been a part of the trench hell that was the First World War, so my father chose the RAF. But air warfare didn’t offer respite from a different kind of hell: tens of thousands of his Bomber and Fighter Command colleagues were lost over the skies of Europe, and for the rest of his life my father suffered in quiet remembrance of those friends who never came home.

Years later, when my parents were visiting me in Toronto, I told my father about a particularly good movie I’d watched about the air war called Memphis Belle. Now, it was about an American bomber crew but still, my father decided he wanted to watch it, so I rented it and set things up for him in a quiet area of my apartment. I had calls to make so I left him alone. When I returned a few hours later, the closing credits were running on the screen and there were tears trickling down my father’s cheeks. The memories that haunt never leave.

He was a hero of the war; many of his missions, first in Hampdens, then in Lancasters, were described later as game changers in the conflict. He flew more than fifty missions on his two tours. By then, the odds against surviving were overwhelming. He was decorated with many awards, including the Distinguished Flying Cross personally pinned on him by King George VI at Buckingham Palace. His other medals were mailed to him after the war had ended. He looked at them then, but I don’t recall him ever opening them after I was born. I have them now, still in their little faded cardboard boxes. And I do open them on occasion, hold them in my hands, my way of remembering my hero.

My mother, Brenda, was a knockout. She’d been turning heads since she was a child in Lincoln, north of London. She was the product of a broken family but had the benefits of a wealthy aunt who ensured that a single mother would still see her two school-age daughters attend a private institution. She graduated the same year the war broke out. Sixteen and gorgeous, she was focused on her job as a teller at a local bank, but also, and especially, young men. And there was a stable full of young men just down the road at the many air bases stationed in and around Lincoln. Parties, dances, picnics, and pub nights became commonplace for Brenda and the young women of Lincoln. Romances were common, but so too were the stories of romances cut short by flights that never returned.

I remember, after my father passed in 2005, my mother reached inside a case of personal belongings and brought out a carefully preserved set of RAF wings that she wanted me to have. I knew they weren’t my father’s as he was a navigator and these wings had belonged to a pilot. She leaned toward me and almost whispered, “He was such a dear boy. One night he never came home.”

In 1942, at one of those Lincoln officers’ mess dance parties, Brenda met Stanley. A year later, they married. A month after that, he was on a mission over La Spezia, the Italian naval port, when his aircraft got shot up pretty bad, and the decision was made to fly to North Africa instead of trying to make it back over the Alps to England. They headed for a remote air base in the desert near Blida in Algeria, landed successfully, but were unable to message home to let everyone know they were okay. For days, Brenda thought her new husband had been lost. But once the Lancaster’s engines were fixed, he returned home bearing gifts: bananas from Blida and silk stockings from a refueling stop in Gibraltar, two offerings worth their weight in gold in a Britain suffering from shortages and rationing. All was forgiven.

My mother and father were an interesting mix. She was always curious about the world around her, loved history and music, had an elegance of style and a spontaneous personality. He was more cerebral, constantly analyzing, planning, and recording all his decisions. After his death, my sister and I found a perfectly organized notebook in his possessions that logged the price of every single tank of gas he ever bought. Every. Single. Tank.

After the war, my father was offered a permanent commission as a senior ranked officer with the RAF, but he and my mother wanted to move on from the years of conflict and try to find a new home and a new way of life for their young and growing family. And that’s why, after a stint working in one of Lloyds Bank’s London branches, my father wound up back in the public service and we ended up on the Canton, my first of many voyages to the Far East.

Because of my father’s position in Kuala Lumpur, we walked into a life none of us had ever seen before or since. He was thirty-four, my mother was twenty-nine, and we’d just left a semidetached home in Bromley and now found ourselves roaming around a huge home fit for royalty in one of the most prestigious addresses in the city of Kuala Lumpur: 6 Eaton Road. It had dozens of rooms, which we shared with the Ah Fooks, a Chinese family who lived with us as permanent house staff.
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Mother and Father on a picnic in the summer of 1944, a month after Wendy’s birth. The war was still on and my father was still flying.



My mother loved this life. No cooking. No house cleaning. No nothing. And the three Ah kids—Ah Ho, Ah Ying, and Ah Chai—became Wendy’s and my new best friends. They even taught us broken Chinese and Malay.

My father worked hard, but he played hard too. Countless days and nights were spent at the Selangor Cricket Club where he was a star bowler. My mother dressed up and helped run fashion shows. Holidays were spent on the coast along the straits of Malacca in Port Dickson. It was a beautiful area, but it wasn’t without its perils. Wendy, barely nine years old, was attacked in the ocean by a Portuguese man-of-war, a jellyfish with lethal abilities. Another young child was attacked that same week in the same spot and didn’t survive. Wendy did, thanks to the heroics of a number of people, including my father who pulled her out of the water, but it was close. All these years later, she still has the scars. Amazingly, she, and me for that matter, have never lost our love of swimming and especially of being at the sea.

There were other dangers too. During those years, a war of sorts was going on in Malaya as Communist insurgents tried to overthrow British rule. As a result, those working for the British government were targets. There were assassinations, one in particular of British High Commissioner Sir Henry Gurney, who was shot and killed by terrorists on a highway leading to a popular resort area called Fraser’s Hill. A few months later, our family was driving along that same roadway when our car broke down. Wrong place wrong time for sure. We were stuck alone on the side of the road until an old truck came by filled in the back with vegetables. The driver offered to put my mother and Wendy with the veggies and take them to the nearest safe location and send someone back to rescue my father and me. I was only four and I had been sheltered from what had happened to Sir Henry and what had been going on in the jungles around us, but I happened to have a toy gun in my hands, and my father always told me afterwards that that was what had saved the day. He was joking of course, just trying to make his little son feel important, but he used to regale guests with the claim. We waited for help to arrive and it did, and that’s the end of the story. Not quite capturing Osama bin Laden, but I’m afraid it will have to do for my part in battling terrorists in Southeast Asia.

Eventually, life in Malaya got to be too much for our family. My parents couldn’t seem to shake war from their lives and find some calm to raise their children. Wendy was just finishing grade school and, if we stayed in Malaya, she would have to go to Australia or England to achieve the next level of her education, and none of us wanted the family broken up for that.
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Malaya, 1952. Practicing the anchorman hand-on-chin pose in the family portrait.



That’s when Canada beckoned. There were other options. England, of course, but it was still struggling with serious postwar economic depression, and Australia, which lost out when my mother weighed in. It was, for her, an issue of real substance. Put simply, she preferred the Canadian accent to the Australian.

“We can’t have the children growing up sounding like that!” was her declaration.

We all laughed because she couldn’t be serious. Could she? Probably not, but Wendy and I knew a closing argument when we heard one, so we started researching hockey, snow, and Mounties.

In April of 1954, this time on board the Samaria, we crossed the North Atlantic in search of peace, quiet, opportunity, and a new life. There were no foot races this time, but I do remember getting in trouble for dropping a few of my dinky toys from our deck into the frigid waters below. I was fascinated by the splash. My father was fascinated, and not in a good way, by the waste.

We landed in Quebec City, boarded a train, and headed for Ottawa, where my father was destined for a starting job in the lower ranks of the Canadian Civil Service. Within twenty years, he would work his way up the public service ladder to become assistant deputy minister of health in the Pierre Trudeau government of the early 1970s, and then be poached by Peter Lougheed to be chief deputy minister of the same department in Alberta. In all, it was a remarkable lifetime career of which I am still in awe.

While she was glad to be away from the conflict of Malaya, my mother missed the fancy home on Eaton Road with its high-society luxuries, 24/7 assistance, and its access to nightlife. While she adapted, Ottawa was not Kuala Lumpur. Not by a long shot. For the first while, we rented a small home in row housing, then moved to semidetached rentals.

Wendy and I went to Ottawa schools and we adapted too, although Wendy was told she would have to change her handwriting because it was too British and she spent hours—and not too pleasant ones—working on her penmanship. I’ve never quite understood what that was all about. Refining a British accent I get. But British handwriting? Seriously?

Regardless, we immersed ourselves in becoming Canadian. In Wendy’s diary, she wrote about that in a series of short declarative phrases: “We learned the words to ‘O Canada’ before starting school. We cooked hot dogs in the Gatineau Hills, swam in the Chateau Laurier pool, studied the Group of Seven paintings, and marveled at the Rideau Canal system. We went to summer camp and learned how to eat corn on the cob.”

In 1959, our family of four became a family of five when my brother, Paul, came along. That same year, we bought our first house in the middle-class district of the Glebe and a justice of the peace came to our home and we all pledged allegiance and became Canadian citizens.

By then, our daily dinner table conversations of the current news had become routine. We discussed the various news of the day, which was usually gathered from listening to and watching the CBC. We debated topical issues and were constantly challenged by our father to try to see, if not eventually accept, the “other side” of an argument. He had been a member of the debate team at his school and was a master at that art. He’d make an argument successfully, and then a minute later he’d argue the other side just as convincingly. Unbeknownst to me, those Mansbridge dinner table debates helped form the foundation of what would become my career a decade later.

The conversations I remember best happened in 1963. That year produced some of the most consequential news stories of my childhood, and together they crossed the spectrum of interests and possibilities. Where to start?

How about John Profumo, the dashing British minister of war? In today’s parlance, we would call his story a “talker,” and it sure was then too. Profumo had had an affair with a nineteen-year-old model, Christine Keeler, nothing new really for the British. But Keeler was also, at the same time, having an affair with a Russian envoy. This being at the height of the Cold War, it couldn’t get juicier than that. A sexy, saucy, scandal of spies. Everyone hung on every tidbit of news that could be squeezed out of a sex scandal for the ages.

Or, still in Britain, the Great Train Robbery. Ronnie Biggs and his pals pulled off the biggest burglary of its time, with only the slightest of injuries to the innocent, and the boys almost got away with it. Overnight they became folk heroes, and it seemed no one was happy when they eventually talked too much and got caught.

In the heyday of the tabloids, these two were classic headline makers that had us talking up a storm at dinnertime. There was nothing boring in these stories and no one was in a hurry to get up from the table.

But then the issues got more complicated and far more important.

The situation in Vietnam began to look serious with our neighbours south of the border, and when the US suggested Canada should come into the war with them, our focus shifted to our newly elected government of Lester Pearson, who resisted the Americans and kept us out. In those early days of the US misadventure in Southeast Asia, that was a controversial decision. Should Canada be part of trying to stop the spread of Communism, which some in Washington described as a domino effect, where one country in Asia being toppled could lead to a cascade of others? The Mansbridges had seen that move attempted firsthand in Malaya, so there was no shortage of opinions on that one. The table discussion was a little more intense than usual.

Then Martin Luther King grabbed our attention. After the March on Washington, his “I Have a Dream” speech and his belief that “injustice anywhere is a threat to justice everywhere” planted the seed of new understanding. While we tended to look at America’s civil rights problem as their problem, I was soon to realize it was our problem too.

As we got deeper into the fall of 1963, something else was happening that excited Wendy and me, even our mother a little, but my father just didn’t seem to get it. It was about modern music, which was not my father’s strong suit. He loved opera, and each summer when we embarked on the long drive to the Maine oceanside, he would serenade us with “Toreador” from Carmen while Wendy and I clasped our hands over our ears in the back seat! To us, this guy was trapped in another era, still upset that Frank Sinatra had squeezed out Bing Crosby, and he wasn’t even ready to talk about that fellow Elvis Presley yet.

So, when four long-haired kids from Liverpool started making the charts, he was happy to dismiss them as “flashes in the pan.” As you might imagine, Beatlemania was more of a four-way discussion than an all-family-fiver.

And then, on November 22, everything changed when President John F. Kennedy was assassinated. It was days before we could talk about it and, even then, no one really knew what to say. Kennedy had been my parents’ generation and for them he brought great hope, but he was also young enough for us kids to believe that that hope included us. Suddenly, on a bright fall afternoon, he was gone, and with him so many of our dreams.

In many ways, that event was one of the last big Mansbridge family discussion nights. Wendy was leaving home to study nursing in residence at Ottawa’s Civic Hospital; she would eventually go on to get a diploma in public health nursing at Dalhousie University in Halifax. With Wendy, my great protector, gone, things weren’t quite the same. Paul was still in single digits, and while I tried to play the role of protector for him the way Wendy had for me, the age gap and my wavering attention span didn’t help. I started focusing more on sports, playing football and basketball for Glebe Collegiate, than on family responsibilities and working on Latin and trigonometry. I discovered girls and beer, a combination that collided with my grades. In fact, I was a lousy student, lazy and bored, and some teachers openly asked why I couldn’t be more like Wendy.

Short story, I never made it to grade thirteen and senior matriculation. University, much to my parents’ disappointment, was not in the cards. But I was really itching to get going somewhere, so on my eighteenth birthday I joined the Royal Canadian Navy.

Why the navy? I liked the deep-blue serge uniform, and in the navy I could be a pilot, which had been my dream in my final years of high school. But really the uniform was the deciding factor. Off I went, first to Esquimalt on Vancouver Island, then basic flying training in single-engine aircraft at Camp Borden near Barrie, Ontario, and then Portage La Prairie, Manitoba, for advanced flying training in multi-engine aircraft.

While I loved the flying, once again I spent a little too much time focused on the social life available to a young officer in training. I bought a shiny red motorcycle to try to impress some of the girls in Portage and down the highway in Winnipeg. I loved that bike, so much so that I used to bring it into my room in the barracks to polish it up at night, which was fine until the day an unscheduled room inspection was ordered and I was grounded from going outside the base for a few days.

It was in Portage, though, that the navy finally caught up with me and determined that I was a risk to allow in the skies, let alone anywhere near the only aircraft carrier we had, HMCS Bonaventure. Instead, I was given the choice of going to sea or an honourable discharge which I accepted, and then took the long, lonely train ride home to Ottawa for another awkward conversation with my parents.

Just nineteen, I worked for a while at a gas station not far from Parliament Hill, but quickly decided it was time to break the bonds of home and try to make a name and a living for myself elsewhere. Something that could erase that look of shame that often crowded the look of love on the faces of Brenda and Stanley.

So, in the spring of 1968, off I went, west again, and the great adventure really began.






Beginnings

As the story goes, Julia Turner was just sixteen years old when she crossed Sunset Boulevard in Hollywood to go for a Coke in a soda shop on the other side of the street. Inside she was spotted by a reporter, who introduced her to an agent, who changed her name to Lana, and the next thing you knew she was a big star, a leading lady in the movies.

Well, I wasn’t sixteen, I was nineteen, and I wasn’t in Hollywood, I was in Churchill, Manitoba.

But after that, there are, as strange as it seems, some similarities to our stories.

I was a high school dropout, fresh from a short, unsuccessful stint in the Canadian navy, who moved west in 1968 looking for a new start. I found work as a baggage handler slash ticket agent for a little regional airline called Transair. How I got the job is a story I’ll tell later. As I said, I was looking for a “new start,” and tossing bags was certainly that. Transair trained me in Winnipeg, then sent me first to Brandon, Manitoba, and then to Prince Albert, Saskatchewan. I’d only been in PA a month or so when they decided to close down the station. They told me I was going to Churchill to fill in for a guy who was on two weeks’ holiday. I got there. He never came back. And I didn’t leave.

Which leads me to the day I was asked to announce a flight departure on the little public-address system. The PA system was set up on a podium right in the middle of the waiting room, which was filled with anxious passengers ready to board the daily Transair DC-4 flight to Winnipeg.

I clicked down on the microphone button: “Transair Flight 106 for Thompson, The Pas, and Winnipeg is now ready for boarding at Gate One.” We only had one gate, but it sure sounded like something you’d hear the big airlines say. “Passengers travelling with children or those requiring boarding assistance, please see the agent at Gate One.”

As passengers started moving toward the gate, one person came in the opposite direction. Toward me.

“You have a really good voice,” the man said. “Have you ever thought of being in radio?”

His name was Gaston Charpentier and he introduced himself as the manager of the CBC Northern Service Radio Station, CHFC, just down the road in Fort Churchill.

And that’s when opportunity knocked. My “Julia Turner” moment. No experience. No background in the business. Turner had the looks, I had the voice.

Charpentier explained how the station was looking for a late-night announcer who could host a two-hour music show between 11 p.m. and 1 a.m. and then sign the station off the air for the night. He said he couldn’t find anyone in town who was interested and asked whether I was. No audition. No HR interview. Part-time job for the asking.

I grabbed it. It meant more money, as I was only making $225 a month at Transair. And it sounded a little more interesting than “baggage handler.” Charpentier said I could start the next night.

After completing my regular day shift at Transair, I went over to CHFC to learn the ropes. One of the regulars, a fellow from Calgary by the name of Bill Gray, gave me the rundown. We started in the record library, which in those days was a set of long bookcases with hundreds and hundreds of 45s, and dozens and dozens of LPs. Bill showed me how the cataloguing system worked and then we moved into the studio for the real training session.

CHFC was basically a one-person operation. During the early morning and late-night slots, the only person there was the on-call “announcer,” so that person had to do everything. Cueing up records wasn’t that hard, though there was a knack to it that had to be mastered. Same with the microphone. But this wasn’t rocket science and if I could calculate the weight balance of a fully loaded DC-4 ready for its run to Winnipeg, I was pretty sure I could cue up a record. By the time I left the station, I was feeling comfortable about the next night when I’d be on my own for my debut.

The graveyard shift, as it was, actually ran from roughly eight thirty in the evening until signoff just after one a.m. I said good night to the announcer going off duty at eight thirty and was the only person left in the station. CHFC aired the CBC Radio network feed from Winnipeg for most of the evening, so my duties were minimal until the record show “Nightbeat” would start at eleven p.m. My first on-air moment was a thirty-five-second station break at 8:59:25. At that time, I would click open the microphone and confidently say the station identification and give the local weather report.

“This is CHFC Fort Churchill where the current weather shows a temperature of (whatever) with the winds from the (whatever). The wind chill factor is (whatever). Next on our schedule is (whatever).”

Those words were all typed out on a piece of paper and I just had to fill in the blanks. Easy peasy, right? Nope. Not that night.

I practiced the script—with the blanks filled in—over and over. But at about 8:50, the network line from Winnipeg suddenly went dead in the middle of their programming. Nothing, not even a hum. I was in shock. No one had briefed me on what to do with a situation like that. So, I had to draw on my memory as a youngster in the 1950s listening to the CBC at home with my parents, where things like that happened somewhat frequently.

I reached for the microphone switch, leaned toward the mic. And then uttered the first words I would ever say on the CBC: “One moment, please.”

And then I switched off the mic and wondered what I would do next. Five seconds went by, then ten. I was about to really panic when, just as quickly as the feed had disappeared, it came back on and everything returned to normal.

The rest of my debut evening went fairly well. I was nervous and probably said some dumb ad-lib music things between records on “Nightbeat,” but no one complained. I’m not even sure if anyone was listening, but by the time I left the building I felt pretty good.

Over the next few months, however, I quickly realized that if I was going to make broadcasting a full-time career, it wasn’t going to involve music. It just wasn’t my thing. Even back in my high school music class, the teachers could tell that I didn’t, and wasn’t going to, “get it.” They started me on the trumpet but I couldn’t hit the high notes, or in fact, any notes. Then the trombone. Finally the tuba. Nothing worked.

At CHFC, each week new records would arrive from the record companies. We’d sit around and rate the chances for each record. I remember the day Simon & Garfunkel’s song “Bridge Over Troubled Water” arrived. It was so long, I said. Boring. It’ll never make the charts. Bill Gray just shook his head.

As I said, music just wasn’t my thing. But I knew what was. News and current affairs.

Ever since I was a child, I had been fascinated by the news of the day, whatever that news was. Along with history, current affairs was, as a result, my favourite topic.

So, in 1969, shortly after being offered a full-time job at CHFC, I suggested moving off “Nightbeat” and starting a daily newscast, which at the time the station did not have. They agreed and “The News with Peter Mansbridge” was born.

In the beginning, it was only a few minutes long, each evening at 5:30. I’d talk to the RCMP, the town office, the Port of Churchill, and the National Research Council, which operated the Churchill Rocket Range. Between them, there was always something to discuss on air.

And then, of course, the polar bears. You couldn’t miss with a story on the bears.

But I needed more than content to do a newscast. I needed to know how to write, to interview, to edit, to line up, and to do all the other things real newscasters and producers did. But there was no one to teach me. I was all alone. So, each night, I would listen to the CBC newscasts from Toronto and Winnipeg, and to shortwave radio—the BBC, the Voice of America, and, when I could tune them in, the big radio networks in the United States like CBS, NBC, and ABC—eagerly devouring how others did what they did. I didn’t copy, I learned, and soon “The News with Peter Mansbridge” expanded to thirty minutes and included interviews often done on location on a big, heavy, Nagra tape recorder that I lugged around town and then edited back in my office.


[image: Image]
The only known picture of me at the CBC in Fort Churchill, Manitoba, circa 1969. University of Toronto Archives



I even started an open-line radio show in the mornings, called “Words with Peter Mansbridge.” It was a big deal for a little town of less than two thousand where most everyone knew everyone, so there was no anonymity if you were suddenly “on the air.”

That first day was interesting. I opened the program with some nice theme music and welcomed the audience to the new age of broadcasting: we were going to be just like the big cities down south. I asked them to call in and share their thoughts on the topic of the day and then waited for the lines to light up.

Nothing.

The show was thirty minutes long and no one called. Not one. Not even a wrong number. I talked for thirty minutes nonstop. By the end, I was almost begging. By day two, the show was called “Words and Music with Peter Mansbridge.”

Over time the callers started dialling in, and that program and the daily news picked up a good audience. I began making a name for myself in both Winnipeg and Toronto because I would offer cut-down versions of my stories for their newscasts. They were almost always human-interest stories dealing with living in the north, or they were about polar bears. A polar bear story was a ticket to network exposure.

And then in late 1970, Herb Nixon, one of the most powerful names in CBC News at the time, called me up and said, “Peter, we’d like you to apply for an opening we have here in the Winnipeg newsroom.” But there were more Churchill adventures to come first.






Bear Trap

Some people have a mission in life. Brian Davies is one of those people. I could see it in his eyes the day he walked into the Transair offices in Churchill.

Born in a Welsh coal-mining town, Davies eventually moved to Canada and joined the Canadian army. One day he took an injured dog to a shelter for care, and it was at that moment he decided his mission in life would be to protect endangered animals. He quit the army and formed the International Fund for Animal Welfare. There had never been anything like it, and it was Davies’s energy and direction that got it worldwide recognition.

One of the first major issues he focused on was the commercial east coast seal hunt on the St. Lawrence River. He had actually been asked by the Canadian government in the mid-1960s to determine whether the hunt was conducted in a humane fashion. He was shocked at what he saw, and he went rogue. He organized tours for the international media to visit the ice where the slaughter took place, and when they balked at the trip, he tempted them with a celebrity tour guide—at the time, the celebrity, Brigitte Bardot. That did it. The world’s sexiest star cuddling the world’s most vulnerable baby seal. The media followed like they had been led by the nose.

With success on seals, Davies took aim at Churchill, Manitoba, and polar bears.

Churchill was right slap dab in the middle of the bear’s annual migratory path along Hudson Bay, which made the town a pit stop for them to refuel. Target one was the town dump, but when it got overcrowded with fellow bears, or when the menu available wasn’t sufficient for their liking, the bears would head into town, break into homes, and raid kitchens. Sounds cute, but it was dangerous and people did get hurt, a few even killed. So local and provincial authorities stepped in—the problem bears were either shot or captured and shipped off to zoos around the world. Brian Davies didn’t like that, and he stepped in.

I was still working at Transair for half the week and was there when Davies arrived one afternoon with a good selection of European and American television and newspaper crews in tow. I was on the tarmac watching them disembark from the daily flight from Winnipeg and was more than a little disappointed that there was no Bardot evident.

Davies quickly made a deal with the local authorities, who knew that even without Bardot, there was power in the camera lens suddenly pointing at them and their town. The next “problem bear” to be trapped wouldn’t be shot or shipped to a zoo; it would be handed over into the custody of Davies and the IFAW. He would then fly the bear south along the coastline and set it free and on its way.

A key part of the plan involved chartering an aircraft, and that’s where Transair came into the picture. We offered him a DC-3 at a reasonable rate. We would take out most of the seats to make room for the huge steel bear trap but still leave enough seating space for some of the reporters and their cameras. A contract was signed, and when we got the word that a bear had been acquired, things were set for the next morning.

It was an early start. The bear was tranquillized to make things easier for everyone, and the cage was loaded and strapped down. The reporters, groggy from a long Churchill night, came on next.

The flight wasn’t long, about an hour, but it was bumpy. Halfway to the destination, the bear woke up. I won’t go into detail, but let’s just say neither the sights nor the smells made for a comfortable ride. The fresh air from the tundra near the remote airstrip about 150 kilometres from Churchill where the plane landed was welcome. Once the trap was unloaded and the bear released, the reporters got their pictures of the bear disappearing over the horizon, Davies made a few comments, and things were declared a success.

Back in Churchill, the visitors left on the daily flight back to Winnipeg and sent their stories off to New York and Paris and Berlin and London and points around the world. And once again Brian Davies was declared the victor for delivering on his promise to “save the bears.”

There was only one problem.

Bears travel. They travel fast.

And this bear, clearly marked for easy identification, had his own mission. He wanted back in Churchill at his favourite dump, and within a few days that’s exactly where he was.

He was tagged, trapped, and sent off to a zoo in the United States.

POSTSCRIPT

There were two lessons from this. As a soon-to-be reporter, I learned it’s never good to leave a story too quickly. Follow-ups are important.

And Brian Davies, he was no fool. He heard about the returning bear, and by the next year he had updated his program and flew the bears twice as far along Hudson Bay, where they found new excitement to keep them occupied and away from Churchill.






A Wake-Up Call

My clock read 6:21. In the morning. On a Saturday deep in the heart of the Churchill, Manitoba, winter of 1968–69. “Deep” in Churchill meant not just snow, but how far down the mercury in the thermometer was. So it was probably about minus 25 degrees Celsius—just another Churchill day.

I had woken up because my phone was ringing. I cracked open one eye and stared at my bleak surroundings. I lived in a hotel because I’d won a big hand in an after-hours poker game with the hotel owner in the bar downstairs and my winnings included access to the room for a few months. The room was elementary: a bed, a side table, a couple of hangers on the wall, an old black-and-white TV, a telephone I’d had installed. No bathroom—there was a shared one down the hall. The room was on the second floor and sat immediately above the bar, in fact immediately above the area where the local band played in the bar. They only knew a few songs, all country and western, and I distinctly remember the one they played most often: “On the Wings of a Snow White Dove.”

Groggily, I picked up the phone.

“Hello?”

“Peter, it’s George at Transair,” said the voice at the other end of the line. “Aren’t you supposed to be at the radio station?”

George was the caretaker, night watchman, and janitor; you name it, he did it all at the old Transair hangar out at the airport a few miles away. He was pretty old, probably in his late seventies, but he was a treasure. Everyone loved him. And for George, when the only thing to keep you company through the long nights was the expectation that the only radio station within hundreds of miles would sign on at 6 a.m., you tend to notice when it doesn’t.

“Oh, shit,” I said. “I forgot to set my alarm.”

I jumped out of bed, threw on some clothes, and raced downstairs. Pushing the front door open, the cold, bitter Arctic air hit me. My major concern was, would my truck start? Transair had given me this behemoth of a five-ton truck to drive back and forth around the community as I was still working the day shift at the airline. Some nights and most weekends I worked part-time for the CBC and its northern service station, CHFC.

I unplugged the block heater, turned the key, and the truck’s engine fired up. I gave it a minute or two and then backed it out onto Churchill’s main road. The tires felt like rubber squares as I slowly guided the vehicle to the station. It was still dark, would be till almost ten in the morning in this northern land of winter darkness. But finally the station came into view.

I raced inside and, seeing as this station was a one-person operation during late nights and early mornings, my first duty was to turn the station “on.” That didn’t involve much, just the flick of a switch on the master control panel. Normally I would spend a few minutes picking some music selections from the library of 45s, cue up “God Save the Queen” to open the day’s programming, and then join the main CBC network from Winnipeg or Toronto to first air the 6 a.m. news.

But by now, the clock read 6:45. That was not a time to play “The Queen.” So what was I to do? Open the microphone and apologize? That’s probably what I should have done, but that’s not what I did.

Instead, I grabbed one of the first records I could find. I’m pretty sure it was “(Sittin’ On) The Dock of the Bay” by Otis Redding. I cued it up, turned it on with no volume, waited about twenty seconds, and slowly faded the knob controlling the volume up, so everyone was in effect joining the song in progress. Then I tried to decide what I would say when Otis finished.

The song ended and I leaned into the mic.

“Otis Redding’s classic on this cold Churchill morning here on the edge of our bay, Hudson Bay,” I said, and moved right on to a weather update, and then into the next music selection.

I never said anything about my late arrival. I did enter the late start into the station’s logbook. When the other staff started trickling in later that morning, there was no indication any of them had even been up in the 6–7 hour. No one ever said anything. The next time I saw George, I gave him a bottle of his favourite Scotch. Eventually, sometime much later, I did tell the station manager what had happened. He didn’t blink.

But I had blinked. The whole episode scared me to the core. For fifty years at the CBC, I never turned up late again. Maybe for a few meetings, but certainly not to be on air. But that didn’t stop me from having nightmares about that morning, fearing it could happen again.

Throughout the many years I anchored The National, I often had a version of the same dream. It would be only a minute or so before the broadcast began and I would somehow have lost track of time. I’d race to my dressing room, scrambling to find a tie, knowing the second hand of the clock was ticking down to airtime. I’d run toward the studio while trying to tie the knot. The floor director would be yelling for me to hurry up. I’d hear the intro music and see the opening visuals playing out on a monitor as I crossed the studio floor. But I knew I wasn’t going to make it in time. I’d see the camera cut to an empty space—the space I was supposed to be occupying. I’d embarrassed everyone, but most of all myself.

And then I’d wake up. It was as if George had phoned me once again. This time to get me out of a nightmare.
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